IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOYCE WELLS,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. 83,207

TALLAHASSEE MEMORIAL REGIONAL CENTER, INC., First District Court of Appeal Case No. 92-3294

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

1

JON D. CAMINEZ BARRY GULKER Attorneys for Petitioner Caminez, Walker & Brown 1637-B Metropolitan Blvd. Tallahassee, FL 32308 (904) 386-5656

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner will be referred to herein as Petitioner or Plaintiff. Respondent will be referred to herein as Respondent, TMRMC, or Defendant. Dr. Donald Alford and Anesthesiology Associates will be referred to by name. Any reference to "Anesthesiology Associates" or TMRMC will include their employees, unless otherwise stated.

Citations to the original record will be made by the letter "R" and the appropriate page number. Citations to the transcript of the hearing on Appellant's post-trial motions will be made by the letter "T" and the appropriate page number.

Unless otherwise indicated, all references to Florida Statutes herein are made to Florida Statutes (1989).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND CASE

Plaintiff brought the action below pursuant to Section 766.101 et seg., Florida Statutes, and Section 768.16 et seg., Florida Statutes, (the medical malpractice statute and the wrongful death statute, respectively). Plaintiff alleges that on or about January 2, 1990, the decedent, JACOB WELLS died as a result of negligent treatment received at Tallahassee Memorial Regional Medical Center (TMRMC). Plaintiff brought the action below, alleging negligence on the part of Tallahassee Memorial Regional Medical Center, by and through its employees; Anesthesiology Associates and its employees Ray Johns and Dr. Brence Sell, (collectively Anesthesiology Associates); and Dr. Donald Alford. (R pp. 6-10.) At mediation prior to trial, Dr. Alford settled for \$250,000.00 with the Plaintiffs (R. p. 42-45). This settlement was allocated by the parties \$50,000.00 for economic damages and \$200,000.00 for noneconomic damages (T. p. 43). On July 17, 1992, several days prior trial, Defendant Anesthesiology Associates entered into a nonapportioned settlement with the Plaintiffs for a total of \$50,000.00. This settlement also released Anesthesiology Associates employees Ray Johns and Dr. Brence Sell, (R. 51-54)/.~

orton Prior to the dismissal of Anesthesiology Associates but after v^{0} the settlement with Dr. Alford, a Pre-trial conference was held during which TMRMC was given the opportunity of deciding whether it wished to place the dismissed parties names on the verdict form or not. Plaintiff agreed that there would be no objection either way. (T. p. 30-31). TMRMC subsequently opted to place the names of both

Xonis

p.

the former parties on the verdict form, and to instruct the jury to determine the relative negligence of each. (R. 112-113).

After a week long trial, the jury returned a verdict finding TMRMC 90% responsible and Dr. Alford and Anesthesiology Associates each 5% responsible for the total verdict of \$573,853.00, of which \$202,753.00 was economic damages, and \$371,000.00 was noneconomic damages. (R. 112-114). After several hearings concerning setoffs and collateral sources, the trial court entered an Amended Final Judgment against TMRMC on October 13, 1992 in the amount of \$509,267.70. (R. 76-77). This judgment represents the jury assessment of 90% of the total verdict of \$573,853.00, reduced by \$17,000.00 in collateral source benefits for social security received by Plaintiff and increased \$9,000.00 in taxable costs.

TMRMC appealed, (First District Court of Appeal Case No. 92-3294) alleging that the trial court's judgment was entered in error, and that the \$300,000 paid by the two other tortfeasors should be set off against the total amount of damages. The First District Court of Appeal agreed, based upon <u>Fabre v. Marin</u>, 623 So. 2d 1182 (Fla. 1993), and reversed the trial court. (Corrected Opinion, appendix A). However, the First District Court of Appeal also certified the following two questions as being of great public importance:

> (A) IS A NON-SETTLING DEFENDANT IN A CASE TRIED UNDER SECTION 768.81(3) ENTITLED TO SETOFF OR REDUCTION OF HIS APPORTIONED SHARE OF THE DAMAGES, AS ASSESSED BY THE JURY, UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF SECTIONS 768.041(2), 46.015(2) OR 768.31(5)(a), BASED UPON SUMS

PAID BY SETTLING DEFENDANTS IN EXCESS OF THEIR APPORTIONED LIABILITY AS DETERMINED BY THE JURY?

(B) DOES THE RULE AS TO SETOFF APPLY EQUALLY TO BOTH ECONOMIC AND NON-ECONOMIC DAMAGES?

Petitioners now seek to invoke the jurisdiction of the Supreme Court to review the decision of the First District Court of Appeals.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Since the adoption of comparative negligence by this Court in <u>Hoffman v. Jones</u>, 280 So. 2d 431 (Fla. 1973), the policy of this state has been to move toward a system which equates, as much as possible, fault with liability. This was the intent of the legislature in enacting section 768.81(3), Florida Statutes, as part of the Tort Reform Act, which provides for entry of judgment against each party liable on the basis of that party's relative degree of fault. This Court, in <u>Fabre v. Marin</u> 623 So. 2d 1182 (Fla. 1993) (<u>Fabre II</u>), supported the rule that judgment should be entered based on relative fault in all cases involving more than one negligent party, and that rule should be applied here.

Furthermore, the abolition of joint and several liability as to noneconomic damages mandates that payments by one tortfeasor should not have any effect upon another's liability for those damages. The notion that each party is responsible only for his or her respective share of the damages would dictate that payment by one tortfeasor can only extinguish that tortfeasor's liability, and no more. Numerous courts around the country that have considered this issue have supported this position.

In the instant case, section 768.81(3) does not conflict with the provisions of sections 768.041(2), 46.015(2) or 768.31(5)(a) (collectively the "setoff statutes"), which require the court to set off sums paid by other tortfeasors against the damages to which the plaintiff would otherwise be entitled to recover. These statutes are easily harmonized. The setoff statutes, by their

clear language and legislative intent, are only applicable where there is a common liability, as in the case of economic damages. Where liability is determined by the jury as a percentage of fault, such as with noneconomic damages, the comparative fault statute, section 768.81(3), would apply. This hybrid application is consistent with Florida's hybrid system of joint and several liability.

Additionally, footnote 3 in <u>Fabre II</u>, upon which the First DCA based its decision, does not control the outcome of this case. The issue of setoff was not squarely before the Court in <u>Fabre II</u>, nor were the facts which are present here. Since the statutes noted above can be harmonized, the dicta of footnote 3 does not apply.

Lastly, the public policy of this state favors settlement of lawsuits. Adopting the rule as set forth by the First District Court of Appeals would have a chilling effect on settlement in all multi-defendant negligence cases. Fundamental fairness dictates that the Plaintiffs (who take the risk of a poor settlement) reap the benefit of a good settlement in which they participated, rather than the Defendant who did not participate in the settlement.

ARGUMENT

I. A NON-SETTLING DEFENDANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO SETOFF OR REDUCTION OF HIS APPORTIONED SHARE OF THE DAMAGES, AS ASSESSED BY THE JURY, BASED UPON SUMS PAID BY SETTLING DEFENDANTS IN EXCESS OF THEIR APPORTIONED LIABILITY AS DETERMINED BY THE JURY.

A. This Court's holding in Fabre II requires the first certified question to be answered in the negative.

For the past twenty years, culminating with this Court's opinion in <u>Fabre v. Marin</u>, 623 So. 2d 1182 (Fla. 1993)(<u>Fabre II</u>), the focus of tort law in Florida has gradually shifted. Prior to the changes outlined below, tort law and policy were guided by the notion that an injured plaintiff should be fully compensated, regardless of each defendant's degree of fault. The current tort system is based upon the notion that each party bears responsibility only for that portion of the injury which he has caused, at least with respect to noneconomic damages.

This Court, in its opinion in <u>Fabre II</u>, traced this twentyyear history from <u>Hoffman v. Jones</u>, 280 So. 2d 431 (Fla. 1973), which established the doctrine of comparative negligence in Florida; through <u>Lincenberg v. Issen</u>, 318 So. 2d 386 (Fla. 1975) which abolished the rule against contribution among joint tortfeasors; to <u>Walt Disney World v. Wood</u>, 515 So. 2d 198 (Fla. 1987) in which the Court declined to abolish joint and several liability, despite a judgment which required a defendant who was 1% at fault to pay 86% of the plaintiff's damages; and finally to section 768.81(3), Florida Statutes, which abolishes joint and several liability as to noneconomic damages (and in certain other

situations which are not at issue here).

Since the adoption of comparative negligence in Florida in <u>Hoffman v. Jones</u>, 280 So. 2d 431 (Fla.1973), it has been the public policy of the state to equate liability with fault as much as possible. The Florida Supreme Court in <u>Hoffman</u> explained its rationale as follows:

"If fault is to remain the test of liability, then the doctrine of comparative negligence, which involves apportionment of the loss among those whose fault contributed to the occurrence is more consistent with liability based on a fault premise."

Hoffman, 280 So. 2d at 436 (emphasis added).

In 1986, the Florida Legislature forged an even stronger link between liability and damages by adopting the Tort Reform Act of 1986. One of the significant portions of this act, section 768.81(3), Florida Statutes, all but did away with joint & several liability. Section 768.81(3) reads as follows:

> (3) APPORTIONMENT OF DAMAGES.-In cases to which this section applies, the court shall enter judgment against each party liable on the basis of such party's percentage of fault and not on the basis of the doctrine of joint and several liability; provided that with respect to any party whose percentage of fault equals or exceeds that of a particular claimant, the court shall enter judgment with respect to economic damages against that party on the basis of joint and several liability.

This statute, which was endorsed by defense attorneys and the insurance industry, was intended to assure that defendants only paid their own share of the liability, in keeping with the public policy espoused in <u>Hoffman</u>.

This public policy was well stated in the holding in Messmer

v. Teacher's Insurance Company, 588 So. 2d 610, (Fla. 5th DCA 1991):

"[T]his court is of the opinion that the legislative intent in adopting 768.81(3) was to implement a system of equating fault with liability . . . To exclude from the computation of fault an entity that happens not to be a party to the particular proceeding would thwart this intent."

Messmer, at 612.

In <u>Messmer</u>, the court upheld an arbitration award which found plaintiff's husband, who was immune from suit, 80% liable for plaintiff's injuries, and allowed the Uninsured Motorist's carrier to setoff that 80%, and pay plaintiff 20% of her damages (the amount caused by the uninsured motorist).

This Court, in <u>Fabre II</u>, approved of the <u>Messmer</u> court's holding when it was asked to determine whether a defendant who is found to be only partially liable for injuries should be entitled to a reduction of damages based on the negligence of persons or entities who are not named as parties to the lawsuit. This Court held that section 768.81(3) controlled, and stated:

> "We conclude that the statute is unambiguous. By its clear terms, judgment should be entered against each party liable on the basis of that party's percentage of fault."

Fabre II, at 1185.

This is precisely the application of 768.81(3) which the plaintiffs sought, and which the trial court granted. Judgment was entered against TMRMC on the basis of the jury's determination that TMRMC was 90% at fault for the death of Jacob Wells. The fact that Dr. Alford and Anesthesiology Associates, who were at one time

defendants in the lawsuit, had paid in excess of their apportioned liability, does not change the fault of TMRMC, and therefore should have no effect on its ultimate liability to the Plaintiff, since fault is the test of liability.

Numerous courts around this country, when faced with this issue, have agreed with this principle. <u>Roland v. Bernstein</u>, 171 Ariz. 96, 828 P. 2d 1237 (Ariz. App. Div. 2, 1991) is strikingly similar to the instant case. In <u>Roland</u>, the plaintiff filed a medical-malpractice action against Dr. Bernstein, a neurosurgeon (and his professional corporation); an anesthesiologist and the hospital. The hospital and anesthesiologist settled for \$700,000 each. The jury subsequently found Bernstein and his corporation 47% at fault, the hospital was found to be 25% at fault and the anesthesiologist 28% at fault. The total damages awarded were \$1,965,000. The trial court set off the amounts of the settlements and entered judgment for \$565,000 against Bernstein.

The Court of Appeals of Arizona held that the trial court was in error, and that the Uniform Contribution Among Tortfeasors Act did not apply because it only applied where "two or more persons [are] liable in tort for the same injury." A.R.S. sec. 12-2504. Since joint and several liability was abolished by A.R.S. sec. 12-2506, the Court reasoned, no two people can be liable for the same injury; each party is only liable for the portion which that party caused. <u>Roland</u>, 171 Ariz. at 97-98, 828 P. 2d at 1238-1239.

The Supreme Court of Kentucky reached a similar conclusion in D.D. Williamson & Co. v. Allied Chemical, 569 S.W. 2d 672 (Ky.

1978). In that case, D.D. Williamson & Co. bought defective chemicals from PB&S Chemicals. Allied was the manufacturer of the chemicals. Williamson sued both Allied and PB&S, and prior to trial PB&S settled for \$16,500. The jury awarded \$20,000 and found PB&S and Allied each 50% responsible. The trial court set off the \$16,500 settlement against the \$20,000 verdict and entered judgment against Allied for \$3,500.

The Kentucky Supreme Court reversed, holding that the policy of applying setoff in the dollar amount of settlement was based on the assumption that the entire liability rests on each cotortfeasor because each has contributed and that no determination can be made of each party's relative share. The court noted that with the adoption of comparative fault in Kentucky, the assumption no longer applies. <u>Id.</u>

Both <u>Roland</u> and <u>D.D. Williamson</u> are based on a sound, logical legal premise: the notion that where liability is several and not joint, a party's settlement can only be applied to that party's own share of the liability. This principle is well stated in <u>Wilson v</u>. <u>Galt</u>, 100 N.M. 227, 668 P. 2d 1104 (1983), in which the parents of an infant brought a medical malpractice action against several parties; prior to trial they settled with the hospital, a Dr. Armstrong and a lab tech Dittus. The jury found total damages of \$510,000 and assessed liability at 65% for Armstrong; 15% for the hospital; 5% for Dittus; 15% for another doctor, Dr. Haynes; and 0% for Dr. Galt. The total amount of pre-trial settlements exceeded the amount of the jury award. The trial court set off the

settlements and ruled that Plaintiffs were not entitled to any judgment.

The Court of Appeals of New Mexico held that since liability in New Mexico is several, and not joint and several, settlement with one tortfeasor can only extinguish that tortfeasor's share of the liability.

> "If the injured person settles and releases one tortfeasor, the consideration paid would satisfy only that tortfeasor's percentage of fault."

Galt, 668 P. 2d at 232.

This reasoning applies in the case at bar. It is virtually certain that when Dr. Alford and Anesthesiology Associates were negotiating their settlements with the Plaintiff that they cared little what effect their settlements would have upon TMRMC'S liability to the Plaintiff. They were negotiating for the release of the claims against them, and nothing more; since they share no liability for non-economic damages with TMRMC, those damages were not part of the bargain, and therefore, those damages should not be affected by that bargain. Again, this interpretation is consistent with the policies espoused in <u>Fabre II</u>, which held that each party pays for noneconomic damages "in proportion to the percentage of fault" caused by that party. Fabre II, 623 So. 2d at 1185.

In <u>Duncan v. Cessna Aircraft</u>, 665 S.W. 2d 414 (Tx. 1984), Plaintiff's decedent settled with one party for \$90,000 as a result of a plane crash and then sued Cessna, the manufacturer of the plane. The jury awarded \$1 million, but did not allocate fault to the settling defendant. The Supreme Court of Texas held that Cessna was entitled to a dollar credit, since fault was not allocated, but held that in future cases where the settling defendant's fault is established, the proportional credit rule, based on relative fault, shall apply.

The Court's reasoning in <u>Duncan</u> is especially sound, and should be applied to the instant case. The <u>Duncan</u> Court explains its holding as follows:

> "A dollar credit reduces the liability of the non-settling defendants, pro tanto, by the any settlement. dollar amount of The liability thus may fluctuate defendant's depending on the amount of a settlement to which he was not a party. This fluctuation cannot be reconciled with the policy of apportioning fault in relation to each party's responsibility, the conceptual basis of comparative causation."

<u>Duncan</u>, 665 S.W. 2d at 430.

In addition to those cases cited above, other states have agreed. <u>See, Charles v. Giant Eagle Markets</u>, 513 Pa. 474, 522 A. 2d 1 (1987); <u>Thomas v. Solberg</u>, 442 N.W. 2d 73 (Iowa 1989). While it is acknowledged that the precise statutory language involved in each of these cases is different, the principles of comparative fault and the abolition of joint and several liability are the same, and dictate the same results in the case at bar. This Court in <u>Fabre II</u> approved of the decision in <u>Messmer v. Teacher's</u> <u>Insurance Co.</u>, 588 So. 2d 610 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), and recognized the same principle of comparative causation as the courts in all the cases cited above. The Messmer court held:

"[T]his court is of the opinion that the legislative intent in adopting 768.81(3) was

to implement a system of equating fault with damages."

Messmer, 588 So. 2d at 612.

If we accept this principle, it is logically inconsistent to apply traditional setoffs where the liability is not joint and several. For this reason, The petitioner must concede that the second certified question should be answered in the negative, and that traditional setoffs should continue to apply to economic damages, where joint and several lability still exists under Florida's hybrid system of joint and several liability. However, it is equally clear that the legislative intent of a system of liability on the basis of relative fault can only be served by answering the first certified question in the negative; setoffs should be based on the relative fault of each defendant, not on amounts paid by settling defendants.

<u>B.</u> Section 768.81(3) can be harmonized with sections 46.015, 768.041, and 768.31(5), Florida Statutes.

Section 768.81(3) does not conflict with sections 46.015, 768.041, and 768.31(5), Florida Statutes (collectively referred to herein as "the setoff statutes"), because sections 46.015, 768.041 and 768.31(5) do not apply where there is no joint and several liability. The legislative intent and the language of these statutes lead to the conclusion that there is no right to setoff where there is no shared liability.

Section 46.015, Florida Statutes, reads as follows, in pertinent part:

"(1) A written covenant no to sue or release of a person who is or may be jointly liable with other persons for a claim shall not release or discharge the liability of any other person who may be liable for the balance of such claim.

(2) At trial, if any person shows the court that the plaintiff, or his legal representative, has delivered a release or covenant not to sue to any person in partial satisfaction of the damages sued for, the court shall set off this amount from the amount of any judgment to which the plaintiff otherwise would be entitled at the time of rendering judgment."

Section 768.041, Florida Statutes, reads as follows, in pertinent part:

"(1) A release or covenant not to sue as to one tortfeasor for property damage to, personal injury of, or the wrongful death of any person shall not operate to release or discharge the liability of any other tortfeasor who may be liable for the same tort or death.

At trial, if any defendant shows the (2) court that the plaintiff, or any person lawfully on his behalf, has delivered a release or covenant not to sue to any person, firm, or corporation in partial satisfaction of the damages sued for, the court shall set off this amount from the amount of any judgment to which the plaintiff would otherwise be entitled at the time of rendering judgment and enter judgment accordingly."

Section 768.31(5), Florida Statutes, reads as follows, in

pertinent part:

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