SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID.J. WHITE

MAY 18 1994

JOYCE WELLS,

Petitioner,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

v.

Case No. 83,207

TALLAHASSEE MEMORIAL REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER, INC.,

First District Court of Appeal Case No. 92-3294

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

TALLAHASSEE MEMORIAL REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER, INC.

JESSE F. SUBER Florida Bar No. 0380891 J. STEVEN CARTER Florida Bar No. 896152 Post Office Drawer 1049 Tallahassee, Florida 32302 (904) 222-2920

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue before this Court is a damages issue, and does not depend on any analysis of apportionment of fault for its resolution. Sections 768.041(2), 46.015, and 768.31(5), Florida Statutes, require that pre-trial settlement monies paid in partial satisfaction of damages sued for shall be set off from the amount of any judgment which the plaintiff would otherwise be entitled. This Court has held that the purpose of the set off statutes is "to prevent duplicate or overlapping compensation for identical damages." Devlin v. McMannis, 231 So. 2d 194, 196 (Fla. 1970).

The enactment of Section 768.81(3), Florida Statutes, which abolished joint and several liability for non-economic damages, did absolutely nothing to change this long-established rule of Florida law which prohibits duplicate compensation for the same damages. This Court recognized the continued vitality of the set off statutes when it harmonized Section 768.31(5), Florida Statutes, with Section 768.81(3), Florida Statutes, in its opinion in Fabre v. Marin, 623 So. 2d 1182 (Fla. 1993).

The long-standing public policies of the State of Florida which encourage settlement and which discourage double recovery would be thwarted if pre-trial settlements are not set off prior to the entry of final judgment as ordered by the First District.

For these reasons, both certified questions should be answered in the affirmative and the decision of the First District should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I: SECTIONS 768.041(2), 46.015(2), AND 768.31(5), FLORIDA STATUTES MANDATE THAT THE PRE-TRIAL SETTLEMENTS SHOULD BE SET OFF FROM THE JURY VERCICT.

The issue before this Court is a damages issue, and any issues involving comparative fault are only tangential. The purpose of compensatory damages under the tort systems is to compensate, not to provide a windfall for a plaintiff. Florida Physician's Insurance Reciprocal v. Stanley, 452 So. 2d 514 (Fla. 1984).

Section 768.041(2), Florida Statutes, was enacted for the sole purpose of preventing double recoveries and windfalls. The statute provides:

At trial, if any defendant shows the court that the plaintiff, or any person lawfully on his behalf, has delivered a release or covenant not to sue to any person, firm, or corporation in partial satisfaction of the damages sued for, the court shall set off this amount from the amount of any judgment to which the plaintiff would be otherwise entitled at the time of rendering judgment and enter judgment accordingly.

(emphasis added). Section 46.015(2), Florida Statutes, is virtually identical.

In reviewing Section 768.041(2), Florida Statutes, this Court found that "the statute is designed, within the degree of specificity ascertainable under verdict and judgment procedures, to prevent duplicate or overlapping compensation for identical damages." Devlin v. McMannis, 231 So. 2d 194, 196 (Fla. 1970).

Section 768.31(5)(a), Florida Statutes, provides for a similar result. The statute provides:

(5) RELEASE OR COVENANT NOT TO SUE.

When a release or a covenant not to sue or not to enforce judgment is given in good faith to one of two or more persons liable in tort for the same injury or the same wrongful death:

(a) It does not discharge any of the other tortfeasors from liability for the injury or wrongful death unless its terms so provide, but it reduces the claim against the others to the extent of any amount stipulated by the release or the covenant, or in the amount of the consideration paid for it, whichever is the greater[.]

The concept that an injured plaintiff cannot get duplicate or double recovery on the same element of damages is well established in Florida law. Dionese v. City of West Palm Beach, 500 So. 2d 1347 (Fla. 1987); Beset v. Basnett, 437 So. 2d 172 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1983); Kingswharf Ltd. v. Kranz, 545 So. 2d 276 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989); Westerman v. Sears, Roebuck & Co., 577 F. 2d 873 (5th Cir. 1978). The prohibition against double recovery is the very purpose behind section 768.041(2), Florida Statutes, as indicated by Devlin 231 So. 2d 194 (Fla. 1970); and Thomas Air v. McMannis, Conditioning & Refrigeration, Co. v. Bankston, 231 So. 2d 272 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1970), cert. den., 238 So. 2d 107 (Fla. 1970). It is also clear that the purpose of the set off provision found at section 768.31(5), Florida Statutes, is to ensure that plaintiffs receive full compensation for their injuries and not duplicate recoveries for the same injury. Alexander v. Seaquest Inc., 575 So. 2d 765 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991).

Both statutes have been applied consistently and uniformly over the years to set off pre-trial settlements from jury verdicts prior to the entry of judgment. In <u>City of Jacksonville v. Outlaw</u>, 538 So. 2d 1360 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), the plaintiff received injuries in a fall on a city sidewalk and asserted claims therefor against the adjoining property owner and the city. Prior to trial, the plaintiff settled her claim with the adjoining property owner. She obtained a favorable verdict in the ensuing trial against the city. After trial, the city requested a set off pursuant to Section 768.041(2), Florida Statutes, for the amount recovered by the plaintiff in her settlement with the property owner. On appeal, the First District found error in the trial court's denial of that request. Specifically, the District Court observed:

The damages and injuries for which the plaintiff received the \$6,250 settlement are the same injuries and damages for which the plaintiff sued the City. The City therefore is properly entitled to have the amount of settlement set off against the \$5,700 damage award. The trial court erred in denying such set off and failing to enter judgment in the amount of \$0.

City of Jacksonville, 538 So.2d at 1361.

The First District reached the same result in <u>Process Masters</u>, <u>Inc. v. Alpha III Ltd. Partnership</u>, 477 So. 2d 69 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). The Third and Fourth Districts have reached identical results in <u>Florida Freight Terminals</u>, <u>Inc. v. Cabanas</u>, 354 So. 2d 1222 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978); <u>Thomas Air Conditioning and Refrigeration</u>, <u>Co. v. Bankston</u>, 231 So. 2d 272 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1970); and Madden v. Rodovich, 367 So. 2d 1083 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979). In

applying the set off in <u>Thomas Air Conditioning and Refrigeration</u>, <u>Inc.</u>, the Third District Court gave some insight as to the purpose of Section 768.041(2) by approving the holding of the trial court that a failure to apply the set off "would, in effect, allow the plaintiffs to recover a sum greater than the amount of damages found to be due by the verdict of the jury ..." 231 So. 2d at 274.

Section 768.31(5)(a) has been applied by this Court in the same manner. In Florida Patient's Compensation Fund v. Scherer, 558 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 1990), plaintiff Scherer sued two doctors, a hospital, and the Patient's Compensation Fund for medical malpractice. Prior to trial, Dr. Schultz was released from liability after paying \$100,000 to the plaintiff. The trial court later granted a defense request for a \$100,000 reduction of the final jury verdict, but this ruling was reversed by the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Morales v. Scherer, 528 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 4th DCA 1988). In quashing that portion of the District Court's opinion which disallowed the set off, this Court said:

Section 768.31(5)(a) provides that a release given to one of two or more tortfeasors shall reduce the claim against any other tortfeasor "to the extent of any amount stipulated by the in the amount of or release ..., consideration paid for it, whichever is the greater." § 768.31(5)(a), Fla. Stat. (1989). Schultz was a joint tortfeasor in this action. Scherer received \$100,000 to dismiss Schultz. The \$100,000 was paid to satisfy the claim at issue here, not a separate claim. arrangement clearly falls within the plain meaning of section 768.31(5)(a), contrary to the district court's finding.

(emphasis added). Scherer, 558 So. 2d at 414.

Other courts have applied Section 768.31(5)(a), consistently with the same results. See Alexander v. Seaguest Inc., 575 So. 2d 765 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); Scheib v. Florida Sanitarium & Benevolent Association, 759 F. 2d 859 (11th Cir. 1985)(construing Florida law); and Brown v. United States, 838 F. 2d 1157 (11th Cir. 1988)(construing Florida law).

Brown v. United States is a perfect example of the clarity of Section 768.31(5), Florida Statutes, and of the result it unequivocally compels. Brown involved a wrongful death case in which the plaintiff alleged that Jackson Memorial Hospital, the Veterans Administration (VA) Hospital, and two Jackson Memorial doctors negligently failed to diagnose the decedent's cancer. Suit against the Jackson Memorial defendants proceeded in a Florida trial court while the claim against the United States for the VA Hospital's negligence proceeded in the U.S. district court. Ultimately, the plaintiff settled his claims against the Jackson Memorial defendants for \$237,500, releasing said defendants from liability. After the district court trial against the United States resulted in a plaintiff's verdict, the government sought a set off in the amount of the settlement between the plaintiff and the Jackson Memorial defendants. The government argued that the amount paid by the Jackson Memorial defendants had been in settlement of damages identical to those claimed in the district court trial. The district court denied the government's motion but the Eleventh Circuit reversed with this observation about section 768.31(5):

This statute plainly requires that the United States be granted the set off it requests. Both the United States and the state court defendants were sued for the same wrongful Both suits sought to recover those death. damages that the Florida Legislature authorized in Fla. Stat. § 768.21 (1985)(sic). The state court defendants settled out of Section 768.31(5) unequivocally court. requires that the claim against the United States be reduced by the amount of that settlement.

(emphasis added). Brown, 838 F. 2d at 1162.

The plain meaning of the set off statutes is clear, and the courts have consistently interpreted the statutes to require set off of pre-trial settlement amounts for over 20 years. The purpose behind the set off statutes is to avoid duplicate recovery for the same elements of damages. The application of the set off statutes, combined with the reasoning behind these statutes, compels the same result in this case.

In the instant case, Petitioner sued various defendants under Florida Wrongful Death Act and sought from each defendant the statutory wrongful death damages. Petitioner received \$300,000 in settlement and partial satisfaction of those very same damages and thereafter, a jury determined her total damages to be \$573,853. In denying TMRMC's request for a set off of those settlement monies against the verdict, the trial court in effect awarded Petitioner \$809,267.70, or over \$200,000 more than the amount found by the jury to be her total damages. This result is contrary to the plain meaning of the set off statutes and the cases interpreting and applying those statutes. It also thwarts the statutory purpose of prevention of "duplicate or overlapping compensation for identical

damages." <u>Devlin</u>, 231 So. 2d at 196. For these reasons, the District Court's opinion reversing the trial court with directions to enter the set off should be affirmed and the certified questions answered in the affirmative.

POINT II: THE ENACTMENT OF SECTION 768.81(3) WHICH ABOLISHED JOINT AND SEVERAL LIABILITY FOR NON-ECONOMIC DAMAGES, DID NOT AFFECT THE VIABILITY OR APPLICABILITY OF THE SET OFF STATUTES.

Petitioner argues that due to the enactment of Section 768.81(3), Florida Statutes, the set off statutes should no longer apply to require that pre-trial settlements be set off from jury verdicts. Petitioner argues that as Section 768.81(3) requires that judgment be entered based upon each party's percentage of fault and not on the basis of joint and several liability, the set off statutes no longer apply because there is no longer a common liability. This argument is clearly without merit when one considers this Court's opinion in Fabre v. Marin, 623 So. 2d 1182 (Fla. 1993). In Fabre, the Court clearly recognized the viability of one of the set off statutes, Section 768.31(5) and showed how this statute should be applied in cases tried under Section 768.81(3). In fact, in an example at footnote three of the opinion, this Court considered the precise issue now before the Court and arrived at the exact same result argued below by TMRMC and ordered by the First District Court. The method suggested by this Court applying the set off was to apply the set off against the total amount of damages rather than against any one defendant's apportioned share of damages.

Footnote three in Fabre reads as follows:

Thus, we reject the argument that interpretation of Section 768.81(3) when coupled with the right to set off under Section 768.31(5) will lead to a double reduction in the amount of damages. This possibility may be avoided by applying the contemplated by Section 768.31(5) against the total damages (reduced by any comparative negligence of the plaintiff) rather than against the apportioned damages caused by a particular defendant. example, supposed defendant A is released from the suit for a settlement of \$60,000 and the case goes to trial against defendant B. jury returns a verdict finding plaintiff's comparative negligence to be 40%, negligence of A and B to be 30% each, and the damages to be \$300,000. Because the \$60,000 would not reduce the plaintiff's \$180,000 to below \$90,000, B would still have to pay the full \$90,000 for his share of the liability. Of course, if the damages were found to be \$150,000, the \$60,000 from the settlement with A would be set off against the plaintiff's \$90,000 recovery which would mean that B's obligation would be reduced from \$45,000 to \$30,000.

(emphasis added). <u>Fabre v. Marin</u>, 623 So. 2d 11982 (Fla. 1993) at fn. 3. Reorganizing the numbers used by this Court in the second example of footnote three may be helpful:

\$ 150,000	(damages assessed by the jury)
 60,000	(plaintiff's comparative negligence of 40%)
\$ 90,000	(damages reduced by plaintiff's comparative negligence)
 60,000	(pretrial settlement by "A")
\$ 30,000	(balance owed by "B", non-settling defendant)

The hypothetical jury in this example determined the percentage of fault of "B", the non-settling defendant, to be 30%,

which, when applied to the verdict of \$150,000 equals \$45,000. This Court clearly indicated by this example that although the non-settling defendant's responsibility would ordinarily be \$45,000, the non-settling defendant's obligation was reduced to \$30,000 because the plaintiff had received a pre-trial settlement in the amount of \$60,000.

This same analysis when applied to the instant case yields the following result:

\$ 573,853	(damages assessed by the jury)
- <u> </u>	(no comparative negligence of plaintiff)
\$ 573,853	(damages not reduced since no comparative negligence of plaintiff)
- 300,000	(total of pretrial settlements by settling co- defendants, Alford, Anesthesiology Associates and Ray Johns)
\$ 273.853	(balance owed by TMRMC)

\$ 273,853 (balance owed by TMRMC)

Applying this Court's analysis in footnote three in <u>Fabre</u> shows that TMRMC should pay \$273,853, or 48% of the total damages, to Petitioner in order to ensure full compensation, not-withstanding that the jury determined TMRMC's share of liability to be 90%. This result conforms with long-standing principles of Florida statutory and case law which prohibit double recovery for the same damages.

It is clear from a reading of <u>Fabre</u>, and in particular footnote three, that the set off statute not only survived the abolishment of joint and several liability with the enactment of Section 768.81(3), but that the set off statutes should indeed be

applied to reduce damages before issues related to the comparative fault of defendants are addressed.

Moreover, as this Court pointed out in <u>Fabre</u>, the Legislature provided that in the event Section 768.81(3) conflicts with other statutes, those other statutes would prevail. <u>Fabre</u>, 623 So. 2d at 1186. Therefore, even if Petitioner were to argue that the set off statutes conflicted with Section 768.81(3), the set off statutes would control.

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